

Status: Updated codes 01/01/2026 Effective Date: 10/20/2024

Approval and implementation dates for specific health plans may vary. Please consult the applicable health plan for more details.

## Clinical Appropriateness Guidelines

# Cardiovascular

# Appropriate Use Criteria: Percutaneous Coronary Intervention

#### **Proprietary**

© 2026 Carelon Medical Benefits Management, Inc. All rights reserved.

# **Table of Contents**

Clinical Appropriateness Guidelines	1
Table of Contents	2
Description and Application of the Guidelines	3
General Clinical Guideline	4
Clinical Appropriateness Framework	4
Simultaneous Ordering of Multiple Diagnostic or Therapeutic Interventions	4
Repeat Diagnostic Intervention	4
Repeat Therapeutic Intervention	5
Percutaneous Coronary Intervention	6
General Information	6
Description and Scope	6
Guideline Interpretation	6
Definitions	7
Table 1. Noninvasive Risk Stratification	8
Clinical Indications	9
PCI in patients who have not undergone CABG	10
PCI in patients who have undergone CABG	11
Other scenarios	11
Exclusions	11
Rationale	12
References	12
Codes	14
History	16

# Description and Application of the Guidelines

The Carelon Clinical Appropriateness Guidelines (hereinafter "the Carelon Clinical Appropriateness Guidelines" or the "Guidelines") are designed to assist providers in making the most appropriate treatment decision for a specific clinical condition for an individual. The Guidelines establish objective and evidence-based criteria for medical necessity determinations, where possible, that can be used in support of the following:

- To establish criteria for when services are medically necessary
- To assist the practitioner as an educational tool
- To encourage standardization of medical practice patterns
- To curtail the performance of inappropriate and/or duplicate services
- To address patient safety concerns
- To enhance the quality of health care
- To promote the most efficient and cost-effective use of services

The Carelon guideline development process complies with applicable accreditation and legal standards, including the requirement that the Guidelines be developed with involvement from appropriate providers with current clinical expertise relevant to the Guidelines under review and be based on the most up-to-date clinical principles and best practices. Resources reviewed include widely used treatment guidelines, randomized controlled trials or prospective cohort studies, and large systematic reviews or meta-analyses. Carelon reviews all of its Guidelines at least annually.

Carelon makes its Guidelines publicly available on its website. Copies of the Guidelines are also available upon oral or written request. Additional details, such as summaries of evidence, a list of the sources of evidence, and an explanation of the rationale that supports the adoption of the Guidelines, are included in each guideline document.

Although the Guidelines are publicly available, Carelon considers the Guidelines to be important, proprietary information of Carelon, which cannot be sold, assigned, leased, licensed, reproduced or distributed without the written consent of Carelon. Use of the Guidelines by any external AI entity without the express written permission of Carelon is prohibited.

Carelon applies objective and evidence-based criteria, and takes individual circumstances and the local delivery system into account when determining the medical appropriateness of health care services. The Carelon Guidelines are just guidelines for the provision of specialty health services. These criteria are designed to guide both providers and reviewers to the most appropriate services based on a patient's unique circumstances. In all cases, clinical judgment consistent with the standards of good medical practice should be used when applying the Guidelines. Guideline determinations are made based on the information provided at the time of the request. It is expected that medical necessity decisions may change as new information is provided or based on unique aspects of the patient's condition. The treating clinician has final authority and responsibility for treatment decisions regarding the care of the patient and for justifying and demonstrating the existence of medical necessity for the requested service. The Guidelines are not a substitute for the experience and judgment of a physician or other health care professionals. Any clinician seeking to apply or consult the Guidelines is expected to use independent medical judgment in the context of individual clinical circumstances to determine any patient's care or treatment.

The Guidelines do not address coverage, benefit or other plan specific issues. Applicable federal and state coverage mandates take precedence over these clinical guidelines, and in the case of reviews for Medicare Advantage Plans, the Guidelines are only applied where there are not fully established CMS criteria. If requested by a health plan, Carelon will review requests based on health plan medical policy/guidelines in lieu of the Carelon Guidelines. Pharmaceuticals, radiotracers, or medical devices used in any of the diagnostic or therapeutic interventions listed in the Guidelines must be FDA approved or conditionally approved for the intended use. However, use of an FDA-approved or conditionally approved product does not constitute medical necessity or guarantee reimbursement by the respective health plan.

The Guidelines may also be used by the health plan or by Carelon for purposes of provider education, or to review the medical necessity of services by any provider who has been notified of the need for medical necessity review, due to billing practices or claims that are not consistent with other providers in terms of frequency or some other manner.

## General Clinical Guideline

#### **Clinical Appropriateness Framework**

Critical to any finding of clinical appropriateness under the guidelines for a specific diagnostic or therapeutic intervention are the following elements:

- Prior to any intervention, it is essential that the clinician confirm the diagnosis or establish its pretest likelihood based on a complete evaluation of the patient. This includes a history and physical examination and, where applicable, a review of relevant laboratory studies, diagnostic testing, and response to prior therapeutic intervention.
- The anticipated benefit of the recommended intervention is likely to outweigh any potential harms, including from delay or decreased access to services that may result (net benefit).
- Widely used treatment guidelines and/or current clinical literature and/or standards of medical practice should support that the recommended intervention offers the greatest net benefit among competing alternatives.
- There exists a reasonable likelihood that the intervention will change management and/or lead to an improved outcome for the patient.

Providers may be required to submit clinical documentation in support of a request for services. Such documentation must a) accurately reflect the clinical situation at the time of the requested service, and b) sufficiently document the ordering provider's clinical intent.

If these elements are not established with respect to a given request, the determination of appropriateness will most likely require a peer-to-peer conversation to understand the individual and unique facts that would justify a finding of clinical appropriateness. During the peer-to-peer conversation, factors such as patient acuity and setting of service may also be taken into account to the extent permitted by law.

## Simultaneous Ordering of Multiple Diagnostic or Therapeutic Interventions

Requests for multiple diagnostic or therapeutic interventions at the same time will often require a peer-to-peer conversation to understand the individual circumstances that support the medical necessity of performing all interventions simultaneously. This is based on the fact that appropriateness of additional intervention is often dependent on the outcome of the initial intervention.

Additionally, either of the following may apply:

- Current literature and/or standards of medical practice support that one of the requested diagnostic or therapeutic interventions is more appropriate in the clinical situation presented; or
- One of the diagnostic or therapeutic interventions requested is more likely to improve patient outcomes based on current literature and/or standards of medical practice.

## **Repeat Diagnostic Intervention**

In general, repeated testing of the same anatomic location for the same indication should be limited to evaluation following an intervention, or when there is a change in clinical status such that additional testing is required to determine next steps in management. At times, it may be necessary to repeat a test using different techniques or protocols to clarify a finding or result of the original study.

Repeated testing for the same indication using the same or similar technology may be subject to additional review or require peer-to-peer conversation in the following scenarios:

- Repeated diagnostic testing at the same facility due to technical issues
- Repeated diagnostic testing requested at a different facility due to provider preference or quality concerns

- Repeated diagnostic testing of the same anatomic area based on persistent symptoms with no clinical change, treatment, or intervention since the previous study
- Repeated diagnostic testing of the same anatomic area by different providers for the same member over a short period of time

## **Repeat Therapeutic Intervention**

In general, repeated therapeutic intervention in the same anatomic area is considered appropriate when the prior intervention proved effective or beneficial and the expected duration of relief has lapsed. A repeat intervention requested prior to the expected duration of relief is not appropriate unless it can be confirmed that the prior intervention was never administered. Requests for ongoing services may depend on completion of previously authorized services in situations where a patient's response to authorized services is relevant to a determination of clinical appropriateness.

# **Percutaneous Coronary Intervention**

#### **General Information**

#### **Description and Scope**

Emergency percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) is used for management of acute coronary syndromes (ST segment elevation myocardial infarction, non-ST elevation myocardial infarction, or unstable angina pectoris). PCI is also used electively for the management of stable ischemic heart disease (SIHD). This guideline addresses the clinical appropriateness of elective PCI for management of SIHD.

Percutaneous transluminal coronary lithotripsy is also addressed in this guideline while evidence supporting its use is evolving. Thus far, published clinical studies have focused on feasibility and safety but have not adequately addressed long-term clinical outcomes. Published studies are also limited by lack of a randomized control group, focus on angiographic rather than clinical outcomes, and short duration of follow-up.

#### **Guideline Interpretation**

PCI may include any or all of the following components: balloon angioplasty, coronary stent placement, or coronary atherectomy. Specific procedure selection is at the discretion of the operating physician. The term PCI applies to intervention on either native coronary arteries or coronary bypass grafts (both arterial and venous).

Determination of the appropriateness of PCI requires knowledge of the results of diagnostic coronary angiography. Each of the three epicardial coronary arteries (Left Anterior Descending, Right Coronary Artery and Circumflex Coronary Artery) (and their branches) is considered to be a single vascular territory. Thus, significant stenosis of the left anterior descending coronary artery and the diagonal branch thereof constitutes single vessel disease while significant stenosis of the left anterior descending coronary artery and the right coronary artery would be considered two-vessel disease.

Frequently, PCI is performed at the same sitting as diagnostic coronary angiography. Although there is sometimes clinical justification to separate the two procedures, separate procedures based on facility operational requirements should be avoided wherever possible.

In some clinical situations, coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) may be considered as an alternative to PCI as a method of revascularization. Although the literature addresses the relative indications for PCI versus CABG for cohorts of patients, it is recognized that clinical characteristics and choices of individual patients must also be considered.

For most subgroups of patients with stable coronary artery disease (CAD), coronary revascularization procedures have not been shown to reduce mortality or incidence of myocardial infarction. Percutaneous revascularization has been shown to ameliorate angina or anginal equivalent symptoms. Therefore, in asymptomatic patients, coronary angiography with a view to percutaneous revascularization is seldom justified.

In large randomized controlled studies, coronary angiography followed by revascularization (in combination with Guideline Directed Medical Therapy [GDMT]) did not improve outcomes, compared to GDMT alone, for most patients with stable CAD. Therefore, GDMT should generally be instituted prior to coronary angiography in patients with stable CAD. Exceptions to this approach include patients with left main CAD, left ventricular ejection fraction 35% or less, advanced heart failure, or revascularization within the preceding year.

Stable CAD patients with advanced chronic kidney disease have increased risks associated with revascularization. Furthermore, with the possible exception of those with left main CAD, this group has not been shown to benefit from revascularization. This is true regardless of symptom status or degree of abnormality on stress testing.

For patients who have sustained an ST elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) within the preceding 45 days, it is reasonable to electively perform percutaneous revascularization of non-culprit angiographically significant

coronary stenoses. Whether the non-culprit lesion is addressed during or subsequent to the STEMI, hospitalization does not affect the beneficial outcomes.

Although the risk-benefit ratio for any procedure should dictate clinical appropriateness on a case-by-case basis, advanced age, advanced malignancy, or coagulopathy should be considered relative contraindications to PCI.

Providers who refer patients for PCI and those who perform such procedures are responsible for considering safety issues. Particular attention should be given to the requirement for intravascular iodinated contrast material, which may have an adverse effect on patients with a history of documented allergic contrast reactions or atopy, as well as on individuals with renal impairment who are at greater risk for contrast-induced nephropathy.

Since PCI requires the use of fluoroscopy, it is critically important that every effort be made to minimize exposure of the patient and the laboratory staff to ionizing radiation.

In clinical scenarios where appropriateness of PCI is based on findings at noninvasive testing, only testing performed since the most recent revascularization procedure (PCI or CABG) should be considered.

#### **Definitions**

**Advanced Chronic Kidney Disease**: On dialysis or with Glomerular Filtration Rate < 30 ml per minute per 1.73 m<sup>2</sup>

**New York Heart Association (NYHA) functional class**: Symptom-based classification of the severity of heart failure as outlined below.

- Class I. Individuals with cardiac disease but without resulting limitation of physical activity; ordinary
  physical activity does not cause undue fatigue, palpitation, dyspnea, or anginal pain; symptoms only
  occur on severe exertion.
- Class II. Individuals with cardiac disease resulting in slight limitation of physical activity; they are
  comfortable at rest; ordinary physical activity (e.g., moderate physical exertion, such as carrying
  shopping bags up several flights of stairs) results in fatigue, palpitation, dyspnea, or anginal pain.
- Class III. Individuals with cardiac disease resulting in marked limitation of physical activity; they are comfortable at rest; less than ordinary activity causes fatigue, palpitation, dyspnea, or anginal pain.
- Class IV. Individuals with cardiac disease resulting in inability to carry on any physical activity without discomfort; symptoms of heart failure or the anginal syndrome may be present even at rest; if any physical activity is undertaken, discomfort is increased.

**Guideline-directed medical therapy (GDMT)** consists of risk factor management and, in symptomatic patients, antianginal medications which improve quality of life.

- **Risk factor management**: All patients with stable CAD should be encouraged to adopt healthy lifestyles including tobacco cessation/avoidance, regular physical activity, maintenance of a healthy weight and adherence to a healthy diet. In addition, absent a contraindication, all stable CAD patients should be taking the following evidence-supported medications:
  - Antiplatelet agents Aspirin and/or P2Y12 receptor antagonist
  - Statin Maximum tolerated dose of high-intensity statin (atorvastatin 40-80 mg or rosuvastatin 20-40 mg). Patients who are intolerant of statins or unable to reach their LDL cholesterol goal on the maximum tolerated statin dose should be treated with ezetimibe, a PCSK9 inhibitor, or bempedoic acid.
  - Beta blockers In patients with a history of myocardial infarction, who have left ventricular systolic dysfunction (ejection fraction ≤ 40%), or as an option for management of hypertension.
  - ACE Inhibitor or Angiotensin Receptor Blocker In patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction (ejection fraction ≤ 40%), diabetes, chronic kidney disease, or as an option for management of hypertension
  - Antidiabetic agents For patients who are diabetic (hemoglobin A1c goal should be < 8% in all
    patients although more aggressive management may be appropriate for some)</li>

- **Symptom control**: Most patients with stable CAD who have symptoms should be offered antianginal medications as an initial approach with revascularization reserved for those who have persistent unacceptable symptoms despite maximally tolerated doses.
  - Beta blockers Unless contraindicated beta blockers are first-line therapy with dose escalation until symptoms resolve or side effects develop.
  - Calcium channel blockers and/or long-acting nitrates should be used as alternative initial
    therapy in symptomatic patients who have a contraindication to, or intolerance of, beta blockers.
    They should also be prescribed when symptoms persist despite maximum tolerated doses of
    beta blockers.
  - Ranolazine may be prescribed either as initial therapy in symptomatic patients who have contraindication to, or intolerance of, other antianginal medication, or for those with persistent symptoms despite treatment with other medications as described above.

**Significant coronary artery stenosis** is defined as any of the following findings on invasive coronary angiography or CCTA

- Left main coronary stenosis ≥ 50%
- Non left main epicardial coronary stenosis ≥ 90%
- 40%-89% stenosis in any epicardial coronary artery with either of the following
  - o Fractional Flow Reserve (FFR) or FFR-CT ≤ 0.8
  - o Instantaneous wave-free ratio (iFR) ≤ 0.89

**Fractional Flow Reserve (FFR)**: Ratio of the pressure distal to a stenosis relative to the pressure proximal to the stenosis. FFR may be calculated invasively during hyperemia induced by a vasodilating agent (typically adenosine) or noninvasively from CCTA.

**Instantaneous wave-free ratio (iFR)**: A measurement of the resting pressure gradient across a coronary stenosis during the portion of diastole when microvascular resistance is low and stable.

**CCTA**: CT coronary angiography

**Unstable angina**: Myocardial ischemia at rest or on minimal exertion in the absence of acute myocardial injury/necrosis. Since the diagnosis of unstable angina generally requires measurement of biochemical markers of myocardial injury or necrosis, and subsequent management at a setting that can provide cardiac rhythm monitoring and intravenous medications, patients undergoing elective outpatient coronary angiography for unstable angina must have had recent hospitalization for that condition.

Revascularization: Coronary artery bypass grafting or percutaneous coronary intervention

**Low complexity coronary disease**: Focal stenosis and/or SYNTAX score ≤ 22

High complexity coronary disease: Diffuse stenosis(es) and/or SYNTAX score > 22

**SYNTAX score**: An approach to quantifying the complexity of triple vessel disease (with or without left main involvement) to facilitate treatment decision-making

#### Table 1. Noninvasive Risk Stratification

#### High risk (> 3% annual death or myocardial infarction)

- 1. Severe resting LV dysfunction (LVEF < 35%) not readily explained by noncoronary causes
- 2. Resting perfusion abnormalities ≥10% of the myocardium in patients without prior history or evidence of myocardial infarction
- 3. Stress ECG findings including ≥ 2 mm of ST-segment depression at low workload or persisting into recovery, exercise-induced ST-segment elevation, or exercise-induced ventricular tachycardia/ventricular fibrillation

- 4. Severe stress-induced LV dysfunction (peak exercise LVEF < 45% or drop in LVEF with stress ≥ 10%)
- 5. Stress-induced perfusion abnormalities encumbering ≥ 10% myocardium or stress segmental scores indicating multiple vascular territories with abnormalities
- 6. Stress-induced LV dilation
- 7. Inducible wall motion abnormality (involving > 2 segments or 2 coronary beds)
- 8. Wall motion abnormality developing at low dose of dobutamine (≤ 10 mg/kg/min) or at a low heart rate (< 120 beats/min)
- 9. CAC score > 400 Agatston units
- 10. Multivessel obstructive CAD (≥ 70% stenosis) or left main stenosis (≥ 50% stenosis) on CCTA

#### Intermediate risk (1% to 3% annual death or myocardial infarction)

- 1. Mild/moderate resting LV dysfunction (LVEF 35% to 49%) not readily explained by noncoronary causes
- 2. Resting perfusion abnormalities in 5% to 9.9% of the myocardium in patients without a history or prior evidence of myocardial infarction
- 3. ≥ 1 mm of ST-segment depression occurring with exertional symptoms
- Stress-induced perfusion abnormalities encumbering 5% to 9.9% of the myocardium or stress segmental scores (in multiple segments) indicating 1 vascular territory with abnormalities but without LV dilation
- 5. Small wall motion abnormality involving 1 to 2 segments and only 1 coronary bed
- 6. CAC score 100 to 399 Agatston units
- One-vessel CAD with ≥ 70% stenosis or moderate CAD stenosis (50% to 69% stenosis) in ≥ 2 arteries on CCTA

#### Low risk (< 1% annual death or myocardial infarction)

- 1. Low-risk treadmill score (score ≥ 5) or no new ST segment changes or exercise-induced chest pain symptoms; when achieving maximal levels of exercise
- Normal or small myocardial perfusion defect at rest or with stress encumbering < 5% of the myocardium\*
- 3. Normal stress or no change of limited resting wall motion abnormalities during stress
- 4. CAC score < 100 Agatston units
- 5. No coronary stenosis > 50% on CCTA

CAC indicates coronary artery calcium; CAD, coronary artery disease; CCTA, coronary computed tomography angiography; LV, left ventricular; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction.

Reproduced from Fihn SD, et al. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012.

## **Clinical Indications**

The following indications for elective PCI are accompanied by pretest considerations as well as supporting clinical data and prerequisite information. For noninvasive risk stratification, refer to **Table 1**.

<sup>\*</sup>Although the published data are limited, patients with these findings will probably not be at low risk in the presence of either a high-risk treadmill score or severe resting LV dysfunction (LVEF < 35%).

#### PCI in patients who have not undergone CABG

#### **Non-Left Main PCI**

PCI of one or two (2) vascular territories (at a single sitting) is appropriate when there is significant stenosis of each vessel treated and ANY of the following scenarios (A-G) apply:

- A. Abnormal stress testing with ANY of the following:
  - Persistence or recurrence of unacceptable ischemic symptoms despite optimal medical therapy
  - NYHA class III or IV CHF
  - Left ventricular ejection fraction ≤ 35%
  - · PCI within the past year
- B. Newly recognized left ventricular systolic dysfunction (ejection fraction ≤ 40%) when ischemia is thought to be the cause of LV dysfunction.
- C. ST elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) within the preceding 45 days and residual non-culprit stenosis which was not addressed during the STEMI admission.
- D. Anginal equivalent symptoms, heart failure, sustained ventricular arrhythmia, or abnormal stress test within 90 days of inpatient management acute coronary syndrome when PCI was not performed at the time of the acute coronary syndrome.
- E. Abnormal CCTA with ANY of the following:
  - Persistence or recurrence of unacceptable ischemic symptoms despite optimal medical therapy
  - NYHA class III or IV CHF
  - Left ventricular ejection fraction ≤ 35%
  - PCI within the past year
- F. Recently resuscitated from sudden cardiac death or with documented ventricular fibrillation or sustained ventricular tachycardia
- G. Prior cardiac transplant

Note: Consideration should be given to coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) as an alternative to PCI in patients with two (2) vessel disease involving the proximal left anterior descending coronary artery. Outcomes with CABG in this scenario may be better and particularly so in diabetic patients or those with significant left ventricular systolic dysfunction.

PCI of three (3) vascular territories (at a single sitting) is appropriate in the scenarios (A-G) above when there is significant stenosis of each vessel treated and ANY of the following apply:

- Low complexity coronary disease
- High complexity coronary disease with documentation of the patient's refusal to undergo CABG
- High complexity coronary disease and comorbid conditions such that CABG is contraindicated

#### **Left Main PCI**

PCI of an unprotected left main coronary artery is appropriate when there is significant stenosis and EITHER of the following applies:

- There is documentation of the patient's refusal to undergo CABG
- CABG is contraindicated due to comorbid conditions

#### PCI in patients who have undergone CABG

# Patients who have undergone CABG within the preceding year and have ALL of the following:

- Ischemic symptoms (including symptomatic ventricular tachycardia)
- Stenosis (70% or greater) in a native vessel(s) or bypass graft(s)
- Intermediate or high-risk findings on noninvasive stress testing (<u>Table 1</u>)\*

\*If noninvasive stress testing has not been performed or is indeterminate,  $FFR \le 0.8$  or  $iFR \le 0.89$  will substitute for this requirement.

# Patients who have undergone CABG more than one (1) year previously and have ALL of the following:

- Persistence or recurrence of unacceptable ischemic symptoms despite optimal medical therapy or symptomatic ventricular tachycardia
- Stenosis (70% or greater) in a native vessel(s) or bypass graft(s)
- Abnormal (low, intermediate, or high-risk findings) on noninvasive stress testing\*

\*If noninvasive stress testing has not been performed or is indeterminate,  $FFR \le 0.8$  or  $iFR \le 0.89$  will substitute for this requirement.

#### Other scenarios

# Scheduled to undergo percutaneous valvular procedures (e.g., TAVR/TAVI or mitral valve repair) when ANY of the following apply:

- Left main CAD (except for complex bifurcation disease)
- Non-complex triple vessel disease (e.g., SYNTAX score < 33)</li>
- Complex triple vessel disease in a patient who is not a candidate for CABG
- One (1) or two (2) vessel proximal CAD

# Scheduled to undergo renal transplantation when ANY of the following apply and CAD complexity is low:

- Persistent symptoms despite maximal antianginal therapy
- Persistent symptoms despite any antianginal therapy in non-diabetic patients with intermediate or highrisk findings on noninvasive stress testing
- Ischemic symptoms in non-diabetic patients who are not taking any antianginal therapy and have left main disease, triple vessel disease, or proximal LAD disease, with intermediate or high-risk findings on noninvasive stress testing

## **Exclusions**

#### Percutaneous transluminal coronary lithotripsy

Percutaneous transluminal coronary lithotripsy is considered **not medically necessary** in all scenarios.

#### Rationale

The definition of significant anatomic stenosis (50% or greater in the left main coronary artery or 70% or greater in other coronary vessels) in this guideline is based on that used by professional society guidelines.<sup>29</sup>

In patients with left main CAD, evidence from 3 randomized controlled trials (SYNTAX, Le MANS, and PRECOMBAT) suggests that clinical outcomes at 1- to 2-year follow-up are similar when comparing PCI and CABG but repeat revascularization rates are higher after PCI than after CABG. In diabetic patients with multivessel CAD who have failed GDMT, there is significant evidence, including a meta-analysis of 8 trials that includes the FREEDOM trial, which shows a lower all-cause mortality rate with CABG than with PCI at 5 years or at longest follow-up. Therefore, professional society guidelines generally recommend the use of CABG rather than PCI in this scenario. <sup>10</sup> Additionally, professional society guidelines recommend CABG over PCI in patients with complex 3-vessel CAD who are good candidates for CABG. <sup>11</sup>

In patients with chronic stable CAD, evidence from multiple meta-analyses as well as the 5179-patient ISCHEMIA trial has shown that, while anginal symptoms are improved by the combination of PCI and optimal medical therapy (OMT), the routine addition of PCI does not result in improved mortality or myocardial infarction rates compared to OMT alone. 13,34,35,36

#### References

- 1. Al-Lamee R, Thompson D, Dehbi HM, et al. Percutaneous coronary intervention in stable angina (ORBITA): a double-blind, randomised controlled trial. Lancet (London, England). 2018;391(10115):31-40.
- 2. Bangalore S, Maron DJ, O'Brien SM, et al. Management of Coronary Disease in Patients with Advanced Kidney Disease. N Engl J Med. 2020;382(17):1608-18.
- 3. Bangalore S, Maron DJ, Stone GW, et al. Routine Revascularization Versus Initial Medical Therapy for Stable Ischemic Heart Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Trials. Circulation. 2020;142(9):841-57.
- 4. Boden WE, O'Rourke RA, Teo KK, et al; COURAGE Trial Research Group. Optimal medical therapy with or without PCI for stable coronary disease. N Engl J Med. 2007; 356(15):1503–1516.
- Brothers JA, Frommelt MA, Jaquiss RDB, et al. Expert consensus guidelines: Anomalous aortic origin of a coronary artery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2017;153(6):1440-57.
- 6. Dagenais GR, Lu J, Faxon DP, et al; Bypass Angioplasty Revascularization Investigation 2 Diabetes (BARI 2D) Study Group. Effects of optimal medical treatment with or without coronary revascularization on angina and subsequent revascularizations in patients with type II diabetes mellitus and stable ischemic heart disease. Circulation. 2011; 123(14):1492–1500.
- 7. De Bruyne B, Pijls NH, Kalesan B, et al; FAME 2 Trial Investigators. Fractional flow reserve—guided PCI versus medical therapy in stable coronary disease. N Engl J Med. 2012; 367(11):991-1001.
- 8. Diamond GA. A clinically relevant classification of chest discomfort. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1983; 1(2 Pt 1):574–575.
- 9. Ferraro R, Latina JM, Alfaddagh A, et al. Evaluation and Management of Patients With Stable Angina: Beyond the Ischemia Paradigm: JACC State-of-the-Art Review. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2020;76(19):2252-66.
- 10. Fihn SD, Blankenship JC, Alexander KP, et al. 2014 ACC/AHA/AATS/PCNA/SCAI/STS focused update of the guideline for the diagnosis and management of patients with stable ischemic heart disease: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines, and the American Association for Thoracic Surgery, Preventive Cardiovascular Nurses Association, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, and Society of Thoracic Surgeons. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014;64(18):1929–1949.
- 11. Fihn SD, Gardin JM, Abrams J, et al; American College of Cardiology Foundation; American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines; American College of Physicians; American Association for Thoracic Surgery; Preventive Cardiovascular Nurses Association; Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions; Society of Thoracic Surgeons. 2012 ACCF/AHA/ACP/AATS/PCNA/SCAI/STS guideline for the diagnosis and management of patients with stable ischemic heart disease: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/ American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines, American Association for Thoracic Surgery, Preventive Cardiovascular Nurses Association, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, and Society of Thoracic Surgeons. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012;60(24):e44–e164.
- 12. Götberg M, Christiansen EH, Gudmundsdottir IJ, et al. Instantaneous Wave-free Ratio versus Fractional Flow Reserve to Guide PCI. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(19):1813-23.
- 13. Gulati M, Levy PD, Mukherjee D, et al. 2021 AHA/ACC/ASE/CHEST/SAEM/SCCT/SCMR Guideline for the Evaluation and Diagnosis of Chest Pain: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Joint Committee on Clinical Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2021;78(22):e187-e285.

- 14. Holm NR, Mäkikallio T, Lindsay MM, et al. Percutaneous coronary angioplasty versus coronary artery bypass grafting in the treatment of unprotected left main stenosis: updated 5-year outcomes from the randomised, non-inferiority NOBLE trial. Lancet. 2020;395(10219):191-9.
- 15. Kappetein AP, Feldman TE, Mack MJ, et al. Comparison of coronary bypass surgery with drug-eluting stenting for the treatment of left main and/or three-vessel disease: 3-year follow-up of the SYNTAX trial. Eur Heart J. 2011;32(17):2125–2134.
- King SB 3rd, Barnhart HX, Kosinski AS, et al. Emory Angioplasty versus Surgery Trial Investigators. Angioplasty or surgery for multivessel coronary artery disease: comparison of eligible registry and randomized patients in the EAST trial and influence of treatment selection on outcomes. Am J Cardiol. 1997;79(11):1453–1459.
- 17. Knuuti J, Wijns W, Saraste A, et al. 2019 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of chronic coronary syndromes. Eur. Heart J. 2020;41(3):407-77.
- 18. Laukkanen JA, Kunutsor SK. Revascularization versus medical therapy for the treatment of stable coronary artery disease: A meta-analysis of contemporary randomized controlled trials. Int J Cardiol. 2021;324:13-21.
- 19. Lawton JS, Tamis-Holland JE, Bangalore S, et al. 2021 ACC/AHA/SCAI Guideline for Coronary Artery Revascularization: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Joint Committee on Clinical Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2022;79(2):e21-e129.
- 20. Leszek A, Poli L, Zbinden S, et al. Outcomes with revascularization and medical therapy in patients with coronary disease and chronic kidney disease: A meta-analysis. Atherosclerosis. 2022;351:41-8.
- 21. Levine GN, Bates ER, Blankenship JC, et al; American College of Cardiology Foundation; American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines; Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions. 2011 ACCF/AHA/ SCAI Guideline for Percutaneous Coronary Intervention: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines and the Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;58(24):e44-e122.
- 22. Mäkikallio T, Holm NR, Lindsay M, et al. Percutaneous coronary angioplasty versus coronary artery bypass grafting in treatment of unprotected left main stenosis (NOBLE): a prospective, randomised, open-label, non-inferiority trial. Lancet (London, England). 2016;388(10061):2743-52.
- 23. Maron DJ, Hochman JS, Reynolds HR, et al. Initial Invasive or Conservative Strategy for Stable Coronary Disease. N Engl J Med. 2020;382(15):1395-407.
- 24. Mehta SR, Wood DA, Storey RF, et al. Complete Revascularization with Multivessel PCI for Myocardial Infarction. N Engl J Med. 2019;381(15):1411-21.
- 25. Noguchi M, Ueyama H, Fujisaki T, et al. Revascularization strategies in patients with diabetes and stable ischemic heart disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown). 2022;23(4):242-6.
- 26. Orsini E, Marzilli M, Zito GB, et al. Clinical outcomes of newly diagnosed, stable angina patients managed according to current guidelines. The ARCA (Arca Registry for Chronic Angina) Registry: A prospective, observational, nationwide study. Int J Cardiol. 2022;352:9-18.
- 27. Otto CM, Nishimura RA, Bonow RO, et al. 2020 ACC/AHA Guideline for the Management of Patients With Valvular Heart Disease: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Joint Committee on Clinical Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2021;77(4):e25-e197.
- 28. Park DW, Kang DY, Ahn JM, et al. Routine Functional Testing or Standard Care in High-Risk Patients after PCI. N Engl J Med. 2022;387(10):905-15.
- 29. Patel MR, Calhoon JH, Dehmer GJ, et al. ACC/AATS/AHA/ASE/ASNC/SCAI/SCCT/STS 2017 Appropriate Use Criteria for Coronary Revascularization in Patients with Stable Ischemic Heart Disease: a Report of the American College of Cardiology Appropriate Use Criteria Task Force, American Association for Thoracic Surgery, American Heart Association, American Society of Echocardiography, American Society of Nuclear Cardiology, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, Society of Cardiovascular Computed Tomography, and Society of Thoracic Surgeons. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017;69(17):2212– 2241.
- 30. Patel MR, Calhoon JH, Dehmer GJ, et al. ACC/AATS/AHA/ASE/ASNC/SCAI/SCCT/STS 2016 Appropriate Use Criteria for Coronary Revascularization in Patients With Acute Coronary Syndromes: A Report of the American College of Cardiology Appropriate Use Criteria Task Force, American Association for Thoracic Surgery, American Heart Association, American Society of Echocardiography, American Society of Nuclear Cardiology, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, Society of Cardiovascular Computed Tomography, and the Society of Thoracic Surgeons. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017;69(5):570-91.
- 31. Patel MR, Dehmer GJ, Hirshfeld JW, Smith PK, Spertus JA. ACCF/SCAI/STS/AATS/AHA/ASNC/HFSA/SCCT 2012 Appropriate Use Criteria for Coronary Revascularization Focused Update: a Report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation Appropriate Use Criteria Task Force, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, Society of Thoracic Surgeons, American Association for Thoracic Surgery, American Heart Association, American Society of Nuclear Cardiology, and the Society of Cardiovascular Computed Tomography. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012;59(9):857–881.
- 32. Patel MR, Dehmer GJ, Hirshfeld JW, Smith PK, Spertus JA; et al. ACCF/SCAI/STS/AATS/AHA/ASNC 2009 Appropriateness Criteria for Coronary Revascularization: a report by the American College of Cardiology Foundation Appropriateness Criteria Task Force, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, Society of Thoracic Surgeons, American Association for Thoracic Surgery, American Heart Association, and the American Society of Nuclear Cardiology. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2009;53(6):530–553.

- 33. Pursnani S, Korley F, Gopaul R, et al. Percutaneous coronary intervention versus optimal medical therapy in stable coronary artery disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. Circ Cardiovasc Interv. 2012;5(4):476-490.
- 34. Reynolds HR, Shaw LJ, Min JK, et al. Outcomes in the ISCHEMIA Trial Based on Coronary Artery Disease and Ischemia Severity. Circulation. 2021;144(13):1024-38.
- 35. Shah R, Nayyar M, Le FK, et al. A meta-analysis of optimal medical therapy with or without percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with stable coronary artery disease. Coron Artery Dis. 2022;33(2):91-7.
- 36. Soares A, Boden WE, Hueb W, et al. Death and Myocardial Infarction Following Initial Revascularization Versus Optimal Medical Therapy in Chronic Coronary Syndromes With Myocardial Ischemia: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Contemporary Randomized Controlled Trials. J Am Heart Assoc. 2021;10(2):e019114.
- 37. Spertus JA, Jones PG, Maron DJ, et al. Health Status after Invasive or Conservative Care in Coronary and Advanced Kidney Disease. N Engl J Med. 2020;382(17):1619-28.
- 38. Stone GW, Kappetein AP, Sabik JF, et al. Five-Year Outcomes after PCI or CABG for Left Main Coronary Disease. N Engl J Med. 2019;381(19):1820-30.
- 39. Task Force Members, Montalescot G, Sechtem U, Achenbach S, et al. 2013 ESC guidelines on the management of stable coronary artery disease: the Task Force on the management of stable coronary artery disease of the European Society of Cardiology. Eur Heart J. 2013; 34(38):2949–3003.
- 40. Wood DA, Cairns JA, Wang J, et al. Timing of Staged Nonculprit Artery Revascularization in Patients With ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction: COMPLETE Trial. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2019;74(22):2713-23.
- 41. Xaplanteris P, Fournier S, Pijls NHJ, et al. Five-Year Outcomes with PCI Guided by Fractional Flow Reserve. N Engl J Med. 2018;379(3):250-9.

#### Codes

The following code list is not meant to be all-inclusive. Authorization requirements will vary by health plan. Please consult the applicable health plan for guidance on specific procedure codes.

Specific CPT codes for services should be used when available. Nonspecific or not otherwise classified codes may be subject to additional documentation requirements and review.

#### **CPT/HCPCS**

CPT® (Current Procedural Terminology) is a registered trademark of the American Medical Association (AMA). CPT® five-digit codes, nomenclature and other data are copyright by the American Medical Association. All Rights Reserved. AMA does not directly or indirectly practice medicine or dispense medical services. AMA assumes no liability for the data contained herein or not contained herein.

0913T	Percutaneous transcatheter therapeutic drug delivery by intracoronary drug-delivery balloon (eg, drug-coated, drug-eluting), including mechanical dilation by nondrug-delivery balloon angioplasty, endoluminal imaging using intravascular ultrasound (IVUS) or optical coherence tomography (OCT) when performed, imaging supervision, interpretation, and report, single major coronary artery or branch
0914T	Percutaneous transcatheter therapeutic drug delivery by intracoronary drug-delivery balloon (eg, drug-coated, drug-eluting) performed on a separate target lesion from the target lesion treated with balloon angioplasty, coronary stent placement or coronary atherectomy, including mechanical dilation by nondrug-delivery balloon angioplasty, endoluminal imaging using intravascular ultrasound (IVUS) or optical coherence tomography (OCT) when performed, imaging supervision, interpretation, and report, single major coronary artery or branch (List separately in addition to code for percutaneous coronary stent or atherectomy intervention)
92920	Percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty; single major coronary artery or branch
92921	Percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty; each additional branch of a major coronary artery (List separately in addition to code for primary procedure)
92924	Percutaneous transluminal coronary atherectomy, with coronary angioplasty when performed; single major coronary artery or branch
92925	Percutaneous transluminal coronary atherectomy, with coronary angioplasty when performed; each additional branch of a major coronary artery (List separately in addition to code for primary procedure)
92928	Percutaneous transcatheter placement of intracoronary stent(s), with coronary angioplasty when performed; single major coronary artery or branch
92929	Percutaneous transcatheter placement of intracoronary stent(s), with coronary angioplasty when performed; each additional branch of a major coronary artery (List separately in addition to code for primary procedure)

92930	Percutaneous transcatheter placement of intracoronary stent(s), with coronary angioplasty when performed, single major coronary artery and/or its branch(es); 2 or more distinct coronary lesions with 2 or more coronary stents deployed in 2 or more coronary segments, or a bifurcation lesion requiring angioplasty and/or stenting in both the main artery and the side branch		
92933	Percutaneous transluminal coronary atherectomy, with intracoronary stent, with coronary angioplasty when performed; single major coronary artery or branch		
92934	Percutaneous transluminal coronary atherectomy, with intracoronary stent, with coronary angioplasty when performed; each additional branch of a major coronary artery (List separately in addition to code for primary procedure)		
92937	Percutaneous transluminal revascularization of or through coronary artery bypass graft (internal mammary, free arterial, venous), any combination of intracoronary stent, atherectomy and angioplasty, including distal protection when performed; single vessel		
92938	Percutaneous transluminal revascularization of or through coronary artery bypass graft (internal mammary, free arterial, venous), any combination of intracoronary stent, atherectomy and angioplasty, including distal protection when performed; each additional branch subtended by the bypass graft (List separately in addition to code for primary procedure)		
92943	Percutaneous transluminal revascularization of chronic total occlusion, coronary artery, coronary artery branch, or coronary artery bypass graft, any combination of intracoronary stent, atherectomy and angioplasty; single vessel		
92944	Percutaneous transluminal revascularization of chronic total occlusion, coronary artery, coronary artery branch, or coronary artery bypass graft, any combination of intracoronary stent, atherectomy and angioplasty; each additional coronary artery, coronary artery branch, or bypass graft (List separately in addition to code for primary procedure)		
92945	Percutaneous transluminal revascularization of chronic total occlusion, single coronary artery, coronary artery branch, or coronary artery bypass graft, and/or subtended major coronary artery branches of the bypass graft, any combination of intracoronary stent, atherectomy and angioplasty; combined antegrade and retrograde approaches		
92972	Percutaneous transluminal coronary lithotripsy		
92975	Thrombolysis, coronary; by intracoronary infusion, including selective coronary angiography		
C1714	Catheter, transluminal atherectomy, directional		
C1724	Catheter, transluminal atherectomy, rotational		
C1725	Catheter, transluminal angioplasty, non-laser (may include guidance, infusion/perfusion capability)		
C1753	Catheter, intravascular ultrasound		
C1760	Closure device, vascular (implantable/insertable)		
C1761	Catheter, transluminal intravascular lithotripsy, coronary		
C1769	Guide wire		
C1874	Stent, coated/covered, with delivery system		
C1875	Stent, coated/covered, without delivery system		
C1876	Stent, non-coated/non-covered, with delivery system		
C1877	Stent, non-coated/non-covered, without delivery system		
C1885	Catheter, transluminal angioplasty, laser		
C1887	Catheter, guiding (may include infusion/perfusion capability)		
C9600	Percutaneous transcatheter placement of drug eluting intracoronary stent(s), with coronary angioplasty when performed; single major coronary artery or branch		
C9601	Percutaneous transcatheter placement of drug-eluting intracoronary stent(s), with coronary angioplasty when performed; each additional branch of a major coronary artery (list separately in addition to code for primary procedure)		
C9602	Percutaneous transluminal coronary atherectomy, with drug eluting intracoronary stent, with coronary angioplasty when performed; single major coronary artery or branch		
C9603	Percutaneous transluminal coronary atherectomy, with drug-eluting intracoronary stent, with coronary angioplasty when performed; each additional branch of a major coronary artery (list separately in addition to code for primary procedure)		

C9604	Percutaneous transluminal revascularization of or through coronary artery bypass graft (internal mammary, free arterial, venous), any combination of drug-eluting intracoronary stent, atherectomy and angioplasty, including distal protection when performed; single vessel
C9605	Percutaneous transluminal revascularization of or through coronary artery bypass graft (internal mammary, free arterial, venous), any combination of drug-eluting intracoronary stent, atherectomy and angioplasty, including distal protection when performed; each additional branch subtended by the bypass graft (list separately in addition to code for primary procedure)
C9607	Percutaneous transluminal revascularization of chronic total occlusion, coronary artery, coronary artery branch, or coronary artery bypass graft, any combination of drug-eluting intracoronary stent, atherectomy and angioplasty; single vessel
C9608	Percutaneous transluminal revascularization of chronic total occlusion, coronary artery, coronary artery branch, or coronary artery bypass graft, any combination of drug-eluting intracoronary stent, atherectomy and angioplasty; each additional coronary artery, coronary artery branch, or bypass graft (list separately in addition to code for primary procedure)

# History

Status	Review Date	<b>Effective Date</b>	Action
Updates codes 01/01/2026	n/a	Unchanged	Added CPT coded 92930 and 92945.
Reaffirmed	07/17/2025	Unchanged	Independent Multispecialty Physician Panel (IMPP) review. Guideline reaffirmed.
Updated codes 01/01/2025	n/a	Unchanged	Added CPT codes 0913T and 0914T.
Revised	01/23/2024	10/20/2024	Independent Multispecialty Physician Panel (IMPP) review. Added exclusion for percutaneous transluminal coronary lithotripsy. Added CPT code 92972.
Reaffirmed/ Updated	07/18/2023, 01/23/2024	Unchanged	IMPP review. Guidelines reaffirmed. Added required language per new Medicare regulations. Expanded guideline rationale. Added references.
Reaffirmed	07/18/2023	Unchanged	IMPP review. Guidelines reaffirmed.
Revised	02/03/2022	06/18/2023	IMPP review. Clarified noninvasive testing refers to stress testing.
Updated	-	04/01/2023	Added CPT codes 92975, C1714, C1724, C1725, C1753, C1760, C1761, C1769, C1874, C1875, C1876, C1877, C1885, C1887. Updated references.
Revised	05/26/2021	03/13/2022	Independent Multispecialty Physician Panel (IMPP) review. Revised criteria such that, for some cohorts, only those patients with persistent unacceptable symptoms and moderate/severe stress test abnormalities can proceed to revascularization. For non-left main PCI: expanded use to non-culprit vessels in patients following STEMI, restricted use to those with moderate or severe stress test abnormalities who have failed medical therapy. Left main PCI limited to situations where CABG is contraindicated or refused. Include consideration of iFR. Added references.
Updated	-	06/13/2021	Added HCPCS codes C9600, C9601, C9602, C9603, C9604, C9605, C9607, C9608.
Reaffirmed	02/03/2020	Unchanged	IMPP review. Guideline reaffirmed.
Revised	07/11/2018	03/09/2019	IMPP review. Added the General Clinical Guideline.
Revised	03/01/2018	06/11/2018	IMPP review. Added clarification of inappropriateness of PCI in asymptomatic patients.

Status	Review Date	<b>Effective Date</b>	Action
Revised	09/07/2017	01/02/2018	IMPP review. Incorporated American College of Cardiology appropriate use for PCI in stable coronary artery disease. Original effective date.
Created	08/27/2015	-	Date of origin.